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PRESIDENT’S REPORT

Action to improve the justice system and 
advance human rights for all citizens have  
been key to the Law Society’s work this year.

The focus for 2017 has centred on advocating for 
the rule of law, improving the justice system and 
advancing equality and the human rights of all citizens. 
These priorities are the outcome of consultation and 
collaboration with all segments of the legal community 
via our committees and our network of Regional Law 
Societies, as well as our work in law reform and advocacy. 
While there have been successes to celebrate, there remain 
many vulnerable people in our community for whom 
justice remains out of reach. It is critical we continue to 
work together to overcome these challenges. Our action 
not only assists in defining the future direction of the 
law and the legal profession, but also the advancement of 
society in NSW and, by our example, nationally.

JUSTICE FOR ABORIGINAL AND  
TORRES STRAIT ISLANDERS
Discrimination and disadvantage continue to 
disproportionately affect Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people and nowhere is this more evident than 
by their over-representation in our prisons. Ongoing 
work with the Federal and State Governments and with 
Indigenous legal and community organisations is critical 
given the increase in incarceration rates, particularly for 
Indigenous women. The Law Society continues to press for 
a coordinated national approach to this problem. Setting 
justice specific targets is one way Indigenous incarceration 
could be reduced. 

Practical reforms to the licensing system and parole as 
well as increasing the use of non-custodial sentencing 
options, the number of drug and alcohol rehabilitation 
centres, resources for diversionary and early intervention 
programs, justice reinvestment, and specific programs to 
assist Indigenous women could also help reduce offending 
and keep families together. 

Reducing the social disadvantage faced by Indigenous 
children is key, which is why we press for a national 
strategy to eliminate Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

children in out-of-home care and for the expansion of 
the Youth Koori Court that has been so successfully 
established in Parramatta. Creating a Koori Court for 
adult Indigenous offenders and a greater focus on other 
priority areas, including housing, care and protection  
and domestic and family violence could also drive  
better outcomes.

The Law Society also has taken a number of initiatives to 
boost the representation of Indigenous people in the legal 
profession, including through the launch of a dedicated 
Indigenous Legal Issues and Resources portal, and greater 
involvement in mentoring programs by Indigenous law 
students, lawyers and people working in the legal context. 
Scoping work is also ongoing for an Indigenous Solicitors’ 
Fund to provide members with the opportunity to support 
Indigenous professional development. 

PRESIDENT’S CHARITY 
The Presidential Charity of choice in 2017 is Bara Barang 
Corporation Ltd, an Aboriginal Corporation on the 
Central Coast which shares the Law Society’s objectives to 
address disadvantage and assist the self-determination of 
Indigenous communities. Bara Barang provides training 
and employment skills, programs, events and cultural 
activities with a particular focus on Indigenous youth. 
Engaging with young people is an important impetus 
towards reducing the number of youth coming into 
contact with the justice system. I thank our membership 
and wider members of the community for their generous 
contributions towards this vital cause.

JUST ART AND JUST MUSIC 
Two initiatives this year were our competitions for those 
in the legal community with creative interests outside the 
law. With a focus on the wellbeing of our members, Just 
Music and Just Art were open to lawyers, law students 
and those with a love of the law, for original works of 
music and art on the theme of justice. In addition to 
celebrating the common humanity and creativity of our 
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profession, net proceeds from Just Art and Just Music will 
go towards supporting Bara Barang’s services. I thank 
all the participants in the competitions for contributing 
to our fundraising activities and demonstrating how our 
profession contributes in unexpected ways to the benefit  
of the broader community through the arts.

2017 THOUGHT LEADERSHIP PROGRAM 
This year’s Thought Leadership program focused on 
the rule of law. Our first panel on August 24 entitled 
“Bending the rule of law” posed the question of how 
much power is enough for law enforcement agencies to 
ensure public security without compromising the rights 
and liberties of everyday Australians. The second panel 
on October 17, “Human Rights in Unchartered Territory” 
will concentrate on the use of international human rights 
jurisprudence in the practice of law in NSW in the context 
of a nation without a charter of rights. The third panel 
event on November 14 will delve into the advancement  
of reconciliation by the recognition of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people in the Constitution. In our 
final event in November, a landmark one-day symposium 
will bring together the country’s leading thinkers on the 
topic of asylum and the law with a view to developing a 
durable alternative.

LAW REFORM AND ADVOCACY 
Campaigning for our community
Safeguarding civil liberties and traditional rights, 
particularly for the most disadvantaged people in our 
community, is a core aspect of the Law Society’s work. Our 
campaigning, along with other likeminded organisations, 
for funding for Community Legal Centres (CLCs) and 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Legal Services 
(ATSILS) led to a combined $61.7 million Federal and State 
injection to the ailing sector. Many vulnerable people will be 
afforded vital legal services as a result. We continue to seek 
assurances that appropriate Federal resourcing will continue 

into the future to prevent more CLC closures and reduced 
services that resulted from chronic under-funding.

The Law Society has also formed a new multidisciplinary 
working group to investigate strategies to tackle the serious 
issue of elder abuse, including through the establishment 
of a national plan. 

And we continue to campaign for funding certainty for 
the Criminal Justice Support Network, which provides 
vital support for complainants, defendants and witnesses 
with an intellectual disability.

A way forward on asylum
Our work advocating for greater rights for refugees is 
critical given the significant constraints on the ability  
of asylum seekers to obtain legal advice and recourse, 
while, in some instances, facing indefinite detention.  
We have collaborated with the Law Council of Australia 
to develop a Regional Processing Policy Statement which 
outlines our opposition to the offshore processing regime 
on the basis that, under international law, Australia 
should not abrogate its responsibility for refugees simply 
by transferring them to another country. We have 
also supported the ratification and implementation of 
the Australian Human Rights Commission Optional 
Protocol to the Convention Against Torture and Other 
Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment 
Consultation Paper, as well as the establishment of 
a national preventative mechanism to cover offshore 
detention and the appointment of the Australian Human 
Rights Commission as a preferred oversight body. Our 
final Thought Leadership symposium to be held at the  
end of 2017 will be a fitting conclusion to the year’s  
work on this issue.

Maintaining public security and our rights
The Law Society of New South Wales remains gravely 
concerned about continuing incursions into the 
traditional rights and freedoms of citizens in favour  
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of broader powers for the executive, police and intelligence 
agencies. Recent reforms that attracted our objection 
include constraints on the decision making of the State 
Parole Authority and the authorised use of lethal force 
by police on citizens, without sufficient justification. We 
also have consistently opposed post-sentence preventative 
detention regimes for high risk offenders on the basis that 
it offends the fundamental principle of proportionality 
and is inconsistent with Australia’s international human 
rights obligations. 

Criminal law
The Law Society continues to press for solutions to address 
the record high prison population in NSW. The recent 
investment of $200 million by the State Government into 
the reform of the criminal justice system could assist to 
reduce the impact on our prisons, courts and the system 
more broadly. However, we continue to voice our concerns 
about certain proposed measures including plans to 
narrow the scope of prosecution disclosure requirements 
and scrap suspended sentences and committals, because 
of potential adverse consequences on the efficiency of the 
courts and access to justice.

We also remain steadfast in our calls for greater 
investment into early intervention, crime prevention and 
diversionary programs, particularly in regional areas where 
these options are frequently unavailable. More community-
based sentencing options and alternatives to full-time 
imprisonment, including supervised bonds, intensive 
correction orders and home detention as well as the 
expansion of the NSW Drug Court and more investment 
in drug and alcohol rehabilitation centres also could help 
to reduce recidivism and ease the prison population.

COURT RESOURCING 
Underfunding and a shortage of judicial officers is 
affecting the performance of our trial courts and 
hampering access to justice, particularly for vulnerable 
people. Similar problems in our Family Law Courts 
are also leading to greater hardships for families and 
communities. The impact is being most acutely felt in 
rural and regional areas where many disadvantaged people 
are being left without vital legal services altogether. It 
is pleasing that our persistent campaigning has led to 
funding boosts for the community legal assistance sector 
and the justice system in NSW that will help reduce the 
build-up of chronic delays in our courts. We also are 
pleased with the Federal Government’s $80 million budget 
commitment to family law and family violence services and 

the wide-ranging review of the Family Law Act. However, 
we continue to press the Federal and NSW governments 
for adequate resourcing for the courts along with the 
Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions (NSW) and 
Legal Aid NSW as critical to the ongoing efficiency of the 
justice system.

REGIONAL AND RURAL LAW SOCIETIES 
Insufficient judicial officers, court closures and reduced 
sitting arrangements in our trial courts and Federal 
Circuit Courts as well as the underfunding of Community 
Legal Centres and Legal Aid have placed significant 
strain on the justice system in regional and rural areas. 
The work of our network of 29 regional law societies has 
been critical to driving localised campaigns for long-term 
funding solutions to ensure all people across NSW have 
equal access to justice. Our network also continues to 
be instrumental to our law reform efforts on issues such 
as compulsory third party insurance reform. The Law 
Society will continue to ensure that the concerns of all 
practitioners are kept at the fore with further initiatives 
following the outstanding success of our recent campaign 
to promote the work of regional and rural practitioners.

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION
The Law Society’s Charter for the Advancement of 
Women in the Legal Profession was introduced in 
October 2016, as part of our cornerstone Advancement 
of Women program. The charter urges law firms to affirm 
their commitment to equal opportunity in legal practice, 
given that at the last count in 2016, just over one half 
of all solicitors are women. The charter now has more 
than 140 signatories. There has also been growth in 
demand for other programs, including the Law Society’s 
Women’s Mentoring Program, our new equitable briefing 
networking events for solicitors and women barristers, and 
unconscious bias training as a component of mandatory 
continuing professional development training. All this 
is a clear acknowledgment from the legal industry that 
strategies and targets are critical to the promotion and 
retention of women in the profession.

The Law Society also participated in a joint statement with 
the NSW Bar Association and the Australian Medical 
Association regarding marriage equality. The resolution 
was consistent with the position adopted by the national 
peak body of the profession, the Law Council of Australia, 
and with the published policy position of the Law Society 
of NSW since 2012. It also is consistent with the position 
taken by other professional associations, law firms and 
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corporations. Our Diversity and Inclusion Committee  
also is preparing a draft policy on marriage equality. 

While it is acknowledged that there is a diversity of 
opinion within the profession on the topic of same sex 
marriage, which must be respected, foremost among the 
concerns of the Law Society as a professional association 
is upholding the fundamental principles of the rule of 
law, including equality before the law. Consistent with 
this fundamental tenet of the rule of law, the motto of the 
Law Society is “omnium jura defendimus” or “defending 
the rights of all”. The law must respect and preserve the 
dignity, equality and traditional rights of all persons. 
Where laws operate to treat some people differently to 
others based on inherent characteristics, it is incumbent 
on The Law Society of New South Wales to support 
change to remove discrimination wherever it lies.

CONCLUSION
I congratulate my fellow council members, our  
28 committees, and dedicated staff whose outstanding 
work drives the Law Society through today’s challenging 
legal landscape and ensures it remains a strong advocate 
for the profession. I am particularly grateful to Immediate  
Past-President Gary Ulman for his leadership last year, 
which certainly eased my way in 2017, and our exceptional 
Chief Executive Officer Michael Tidball for his support 
and encouragement in making the past year a rewarding 
and productive year for both the organisation and me.

Just Art Artists’ Choice and People’s Choice winners

Charter for the Advancement of Women event

Thought Leadership, Bending the rule of law event
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GENDER

= 32,055
Registered solicitors in NSW

PROFILE OF THE PROFESSION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

AGE OF SOLICITORS ∏ Female ∏ Male

LOCATION OF SOLICITORS

EXPERIENCE OF SOLICITORS ∏ Female ∏ Male

CATEGORY OF SOLICITORS

Female
16,239 
(50.66%)

Male
15,816 
(49.34%)
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COMPLAINTS AGAINST SOLICITORS
2016–2017

COMPLAINTS OPENED

MAJOR COMPLAINT CATEGORIES

COMPLAINTS OPENED, BY SOLICITOR TYPE COMPLAINTS OPENED, BY TYPE OF COMPLAINANT  

AREAS OF LAW

1  Other includes Judge, Court 
Registrar, Government 
Department and Beneficiary
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

The Law Society continues to strive to deliver its statutory and 
regulatory functions with excellence, and has maintained the 
confidence of the community in upholding the rule of law and  
our responsibilities as a co-regulator of the legal profession.  

The 2016-17 year presented dynamic challenges and 
opportunities for The Law Society of New South Wales. 
Highlights included, the completion and launch of the 
Future of Law and Innovation in the Profession Report, 
deploying our representational and legal policy resources 
in response to major government policy proposals, as well 
as adapting our services and resources to the changing 
profile and needs of the legal profession in NSW. The 
Law Society continues to strive to deliver its statutory and 
regulatory functions with excellence, and has maintained 
the confidence of the community in upholding the rule  
of law and our responsibilities as a co-regulator of the  
legal profession.  

Our work in advocacy has been strengthened through 
the input of the profession through our various policy 
committees and the Regional Law Societies. The Law 
Society also continues to strengthen its resources to 
maintain relevance to the entire profession, whether this 
be for small, medium or large private firms, or corporate 
counsel or government lawyers. Our digital capability and 
member service innovations have been further refined 
with the intention of delivering a membership offering 
which is innovative and without peer internationally.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The Law Society finished the 2016-17 financial year with 
a net surplus of $1.24 million and net assets of $68.18 
million. We have continued to build upon our strong 
financial position. This is despite reduced investment 
returns over the past 12 months, combined with 
amortisation expenses recognised as a result of the Law 
Society’s ongoing investment in its core regulatory and 
information systems which have each contributed to a 
decrease in the net surplus from that reported in 2015-16. 

The consolidated Law Society group, which includes 
Lawcover Insurance and the Solicitors’ Mutual Indemnity 
Fund, reported a surplus after tax of $4.94 million, with 
group net assets increasing to $265.92 million. It is pleasing 

indeed to see that Lawcover Insurance has again been able 
to provide for a premium rebate, that will be distributed to 
policy holders during the 2017-18 financial year.

Additional information pertaining to both the Law 
Society and consolidated group financial reports can be 
found in the Treasurer’s report and accompanying concise 
financial statements.

POLICY
The Law Society Committees, supported by our Legal 
Policy team, have made more than 200 submissions in 
the past financial year seeking positive reform to the 
justice system. Ongoing collaboration between Federal 
and State Governments and the legal profession is critical 
to generating constructive reform outcomes. Important 
projects include our continued input to the NSW 
Government on its implementation of the new compulsory 
third-party motor accidents insurance scheme. Our focus 
has been on advocating for benefits for injured motorists 
and retaining access to legal representation. This remains 
a critical area of work, as the operational implementation 
of the new legislation is yet to be completed.

Access to justice will always be a focus for the Law 
Society. We also will always focus on containing the cost 
of litigation and ensuring that court fees are affordable.  
We also are concerned to ensure that litigation costs are 
contained amidst higher court fees and pressures on Legal 
Aid funding. In criminal law, we have concentrated on 
urging for more measures to ease pressure on our justice 
system and record high prison numbers, including greater 
use of alternatives to custodial sentences. Concerns 
continue to be raised about proposed changes including 
the abolition of committals and ongoing encroachments 
on civil rights and the overreach of executive and police 
powers as a result of ongoing terrorism reforms.

The Law Society also remains active in advocating 
for better measures to reduce the record number of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in our jails. 
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These measures include setting justice-specific targets, 
reform to the driver licence disqualification system, the 
abolition of fine default imprisonment schemes, and 
including a reference to the need for courts to consider the 
circumstances of Indigenous people before sentencing. 

The NSW economy is dynamic and large, constituting a 
powerhouse in the region. The Society is committed to 
maintaining active engagement with the law as it relates 
to business and the efficient and effective working of the 
commercial and financial systems. In the corporate field, 
some of our submissions have related to the review of 
laws relating to beneficiaries of trusts, litigation funding, 
deferred prosecution agreements, the review of tax and 
corporate whistleblower protections, insolvency and 
consumer laws.

KEY SUBMISSIONS:
• Australian Law Reform Commission Elder Abuse 

Discussion Paper

• Australian National Standards for Working with 
Interpreters in Courts and Tribunals

• Compulsory Third Party Reform

• Consumer Law Enforcement and Administration

• Courts and tribunal fees

• Courts in rural and regional areas

• Draft Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Amendment Bill 2017

• Implementation of the Appropriate Early Guilty Plea 
Reform proposals

• Indigenous incarceration rates and justice targets

• Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) 
Amendment Bill 2016

• Land and Property Information (Privatisation)

• Legal Profession Uniform Law: Review of the 
Australian Solicitors’ Conduct Rules

• NSW Trustee and Guardian Surety Bond Scheme

• Online Registry and the Online Court

• Practical Guide for the Australian Legal Profession  
on Business and Human Rights 

• Retail Leases Amendment (Review) Bill 2016

• Review of the Guardianship Act 1987

• Royal Commission into Institutional Responses  
to Child Sexual Abuse Consultation Paper on 
Criminal Justice

NATIONAL PROFILE OF THE PROFESSION
The 2016 National Profile of the Profession undertaken 
by the Law Society on behalf of the Conference of Law 
Societies revealed significant changes in the demographics 
of the legal profession. In response, the Law Society is 
proactively delivering strategic priorities, including the 
expansion of our Advancement of Women and corporate 
counsel programs. Of the total 71,509 practising solicitors 
in Australia, female solicitors now comprise 35,799 or 50.1 
per cent compared with 35,710 or 49.9 per cent of male 
lawyers. The overall number of solicitors increased 24 per 
cent in the past five years, from 57,577 in 2011 to 71,509 
solicitors in 2016. 

The figures reflect a 59 per cent increase in the number 
of solicitors working in the corporate sector between 2011 
and 2016, compared with a 17 per cent increase in those 
working in the private sector. The makeup of the legal 
profession also is changing with the number of private law 
firms increasing 46.2 per cent from 10,632 to 15,539 firms 
in the same period. The Law Society is doing more to assist 
growth in the number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander practitioners, including mentoring programs. 
Indigenous practitioners made up 1.2 per cent of the 
profession in 2016 or 621 solicitors. Of this number, 53.1 
per cent were female compared with 46.9 per cent male.



10 | 

SECTION TITLE

MEMBERSHIP
Our priority is understanding the diverse needs of the 
profession, adapting our services to changing member 
requirements and assisting progress across private, 
corporate, government and regional practice. Our solicitor 
membership has increased 3.3 per cent in line with growth 
in the profession over the past financial year. When 
associate members are included, the Law Society’s total 
membership now exceeds 29,000.

Further to this, and following a year which saw an 
increased number of offerings and services provided by 
NSW Young Lawyers, it is also pleasing to report that 
membership of young solicitors grew by 4.5 per cent 
during the 2016-17 period.

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
The Law Society should be the leader in the profession’s 
education and continuing professional development sector. 
There were more than 3,850 registrations in February 
and March 2017 alone, a 25 per cent increase on the same 
period in 2016. Demand is driving the expansion of our 
offerings, including more targeted and practical courses. 
This includes our new Practice Management Course as 
well as specialist workshops and masterclasses in skills 
and business development. The launch of our new online 
platform, LawInform, will deliver a premium online one-
stop solution for organisations and individuals and will 
help members fulfil their ongoing CPD responsibilities. 
Courses can be completed online, anytime and on 
any device. There are added functions, including a 
personalised CPD tracker, notifications and calendar 
invites. Members benefit from discounts of up to  
30 per cent on Law Society CPD.

SPECIALIST ACCREDITATION
This year we celebrated the 25th anniversary of the 
Specialist Accreditation program. An increasing number 
of practitioners are participating in the program, with 
the Law Society receiving more than 220 applications 
this year. There are more than 1,600 Accredited 
Specialists across 14 areas of practice, including business 
law, criminal law, family law and wills and estates. The 
program will continue to adapt in line with its important 
aim of providing the profession and the public with a 
reliable means of identifying practitioners with particular 
expertise. The Law Society plans to hold more events 
following the success of the Specialist Accreditation 
Conference on August 4-5, 2017. The event gave 
Accredited Specialists a unique networking opportunity 
and ability to hear from eminent speakers in their fields.

IN-HOUSE LAWYERS AND GOVERNMENT SOLICITORS
The Law Society is offering new programs and events 
to ensure the particular needs of corporate in-house 
counsel are met. Our General Counsel forums provide 
practitioners an opportunity to drive innovation, share 
expertise and collaborate. We also have launched a new 
in-house induction program to assist practitioners as they 
transition to an in-house role.

Engagement with government solicitors has similarly 
increased this year with more professionals participating 
in our programs and events, including our Government 
Solicitors Conference and Leaders in Government 
Forum, both in September 2017. Our Government 
Lawyers Practice and Professional Development teams 
are partnering with government legal practices to develop 
initiatives, including our new practice excellence programs 

25th Anniversary Specialist Accreditation Gala Dinner 2017
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for larger government agencies. The Law Society also 
is now offering customised training and guidance for 
individuals and agencies.

NSW YOUNG LAWYERS
NSW Young Lawyers continues to grow in response to 
demand, particularly for programs and services relating 
to skills and careers development. This has led to several 
initiatives, including the launch in January 2017 of 
LegalVitae, a new job portal showcasing the full range 
of law careers available to law students and graduates, 
and the National Law Guide published jointly with 
GradAustralia. The Guide, distributed to 41 universities, 
gives law students insight into the broad range of career 
options, including non-legal career specialisations in 
different sectors, from legal academia and New Law to in-
house roles in the public and corporate sectors. 

These initiatives have been backed by events, including 
the Sydney Law Careers Fair which will return in 2018 
in partnership with the Big Meet. The event in March 
2017 was attended by more than 600 law students across 
NSW and the ACT, and 27 exhibitors from law firms, 
government and non-legal employers. In addition to the 
hugely successful NSW Golden Gavel on 19 May 2017, 
which was attended by more than 800 solicitors, the Law 
Society will host the 2017 Australian Young Lawyers’ 
Conference and National Golden Gavel Competition 
Final in association with the Law Council of Australia’s 
Young Lawyer Committee in October 2017.

Networking and skills development programs are other 
valued facets of our graduate support services. Our 
Graduate Mentoring Program, launched in February 

attracted more than 100 participants, across 12 regions. 
The NSW Young Lawyers Mentoring Program also 
continues to grow with 210 participants taking part across 
19 regions this financial year. We have also partnered 
with NIDA Corporate to deliver a new masterclass series 
to assist young lawyers with presenting, negotiation 
and communication skills. In other areas, the Refugee 
Assistance Project run jointly by Young Lawyers and the 
Refugee Advice and Casework Service has assisted more 
than 160 unrepresented applicants since its launch in 
September 2016.

FACING THE FUTURE
The Law Society is taking steps to implement the  
19 recommendations arising from the Future of Law and 
Innovation in the Profession (FLIP) Report, launched on 
March 28, 2017. The FLIP report is the first comprehensive 
analysis of disruption in the legal sector. It examines 
key new trends in legal services and aims to assist the 
profession to prepare for challenges and opportunities 
arising from the globalisation of the industry, increased 
competition, technological advancements, innovation 
in legal education and evolution in the needs and 
expectations of clients and the public. We already are 
acting on recommendations such as integrating wellbeing 
into continuing professional development and designing 
projects to address change and innovation in the 
profession as well as an annual hackathon for community 
legal assistance. The Law Society also is investigating 
the potential establishment of a new Centre for Legal 
Innovation Projects to help the profession embrace new 
and emerging ideas and technologies. 

Launch of FLIP report 2017
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PRO BONO
The pressure on the community legal sector and the justice 
system has led to more vulnerable and disadvantage people 
seeking pro bono services across the legal industry. The 
Law Society’s Pro Bono Scheme received 574 applications 
in 2016 from members of the public who were ineligible 
for or could not obtain assistance from Legal Aid and who 
could not afford to pay a full-fee charging solicitor. About 
329 matters were referred to the 374 law firms which 
participate in the scheme on a voluntary basis. Family 
law parenting matters constituted the largest number of 
applications, followed by criminal law, wills and estates 
and debt and credit matters.

The Law Society’s Solicitor Referral Service is also in heavy 
demand. This free service provides people with the contact 
details of law firms that meet their specific needs, when they 
do not have the skills, resources, connections or confidence 
to conduct inquiries themselves. The total number of 
referrals provided by the service to the public in 2016 was 
21,261. The most requested areas related to personal injury, 
civil law, family law and criminal law matters.

Types of matters covered by the Pro Bono Scheme include:

• Administrative law

• Assistance with Apprehended Violence Orders

• Bankruptcy

• Child care and protection

• Civil claims

• Criminal law

• Divorce

• Employment law

• Family law matters related to children  
(e.g. live with, spend time with disputes)

• Immigration assistance for refugees

• Legal assistance for not-for-profit organisations  
and charities

• Wills and Estates

ENGAGING WITH MEMBERS AND THE COMMUNITY
The Law Society is using dynamic ways to interact with 
members. We have significantly boosted our presence in 
online and broadcast media on key campaigns, including 
resourcing for our courts, the community legal sector and 
Indigenous incarceration, as well as on issues of concern in 
regional and rural areas and across different segments from 
private practice, to government and corporate counsel.

The Law Society’s social media profile is driving growth 
in engagement with members and the public. The Society 
also is investing in a new website which will provide 
practitioners with a multi-dimensional platform to access 
important resources and information. The LSJ continues 
to enjoy a high degree of engagement with the profession. 
The upcoming launch of a new digital platform for the LSJ 
will similarly provide a multimedia interface for members  
and advertising.

Demand for more resources and expertise relating to 
regional developments in law and legal services led to 
the launch of a new flagship publication, Asian Jurist, in 
September which will be distributed to LAWASIA members 
worldwide. This unique publication focuses on the core 
themes of the rule of law, human rights and business. 

MEMBER BENEFITS
Raising awareness for mental health and support services 
is an important priority for the Law Society. Our initiatives 
have included the launch of Being Well in the Law, a self-
help guide providing lawyers with practical ways of taking 
care of their health and wellbeing. The continued roll out 
of regional seminars and the partnership with Lifeline 
for Lawyers provide a range of support to combat issues 
surrounding psychological distress.

The Law Society also is offering a broader range of 
discounts and benefits relevant to members’ lifestyle 
and personal needs, with some exciting and diverse 
new partnerships to be announced shortly through our 
Member Connexions and Practice Connexions programs. 
The Law Society Library also is expanding digital 
resources and services to cater for an increasing  
number of users.

CONCLUSION
The resilience and adaptability of the Law Society is 
attributable to the abilities, energies and commitment 
of numerous individuals. The Society has a strong and 
stable staff team. Our various policy and regulatory 
committees provide a powerful reserve of input and 
value to our leadership of the profession. Law Society 
Councillors make an enormous voluntary contribution to 
our governance. It has been my pleasure to work with and 
support the efforts and initiatives of the serving Presidents 
Gary Ulman and Pauline Wright over the past year. 
Their boundless energy and commitment to high quality 
leadership have rendered them outstanding exemplars of 
service to the legal profession and the community.
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Our work in advocacy has been strengthened through 
the input of the profession through our various policy 
committees and the Regional Law Societies. The Law 

Society also continues to strengthen its resources to 
maintain relevance to the entire profession, whether 
this be for small, medium or large private firms, or 

corporate counsel or government lawyers.

MICHAEL TIDBALL
Chief Executive Officer
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LAWCOVER GROUP OF COMPANIES
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

I am pleased to provide my fifth Lawcover annual report 
for the 2017 Law Society Annual Report. The 2016–17 
reporting year has been another strong one for Lawcover. 
We have achieved strong financial results, experienced 
further stability of the claims portfolio and increased 
activity across the broad range of our Risk Management 
Education Program. We have continued to refine our 
business operating model to deliver efficient and effective 
professional indemnity services to insured law practices. 

The entire Lawcover team continues to focus on delivering 
absolute value given that professional indemnity insurance 
(PII) is a necessity rather than a choice for law practices. 
Our value proposition is focused on six key areas:

• Informing through various media channels

• Supporting through practice support services, claims 
management and advice

• Protecting through financial strength, backing a broad 
PII policy

• Engaging through risk management and claims 
prevention programs and workshops

• Connecting through online facilities to make our 
interactions quicker and more efficient

• Participating to champion the interests of the legal 
profession within the insurance environment

During 2016 we conducted a Net Promoter Score© 
survey to measure our service performance in meeting 
the needs and expectations of our insured law practices 
and solicitors. We were delighted to receive a +32 score, 
together with 81% of respondents rating the overall value 
provided by Lawcover as “good” or “excellent.”

It is worth repeating that Lawcover’s role extends beyond 
that of a simple transaction-based professional indemnity 
insurance company. By our corporate structure we are a 
part of the legal profession and we have both the desire 
and the obligation to serve and meet the needs of the 
profession. This extends to the objective that Lawcover 

operates within a framework which is in the best interests 
of the legal profession and consumers of legal services.

That framework ensures that Lawcover seeks appropriate 
outcomes in claims arising from allegations of negligence – 
by rigorous defence of unmeritorious claims but also quick 
and fair compensation for legitimate claims.

Our focus and commitment to working for and on behalf 
of the profession has delivered strong performance 
outcomes this year. The Lawcover Board and Executive 
will continue to investigate avenues to improve and  
extend the value proposition of our services to our  
insured law practices.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
The 2016-17 reporting year has delivered strong financial 
performance, driven primarily by better than anticipated 
claims outcomes from previous years. These outcomes are 
the result of internal operating efficiencies, our extensive 
risk management and claims prevention activities and a 
competent and risk aware legal profession.

As a result of this continued strong financial performance, 
a policyholder rebate will be paid to eligible insured law 
practices in September 2017. Previous policyholder rebates 
were made in 2014 and 2016 together with significant 
premium reductions over the same period. 

We now are seeing an alignment between developing 
claims experience from previous years and our forecasts, 
which lessens the likelihood of future policyholder rebates. 
However, this alignment together with our strong capital 
position, will help provide certainty and stability in the 
cost of insurance into the future.

Lawcover’s Board and Executive continues to focus on 
deliberate capital management strategies to ensure efficient 
use of capital. We do this by:

• Actively managing the company’s capital position within 
regulatory tolerances and the company’s risk appetite

We have achieved strong financial results, experienced further 
stability of the claims portfolio, and increased activity across the 
broad range of our Risk Management Education Program.
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• Ensuring premium revenue is set at levels which reflect 
the capital requirements of the company, minimising 
risk of under- or over-collection of premiums

• Revising the company’s investment strategy to ensure 
an appropriately balanced portfolio within the 
company’s risk appetite

• Dispensing with quota share reinsurance in 2016-17, 
resulting in a reduction in the amount of outward 
reinsurance expense, while maintaining strong levels of 
aggregate stop loss protection

Our focus is to maintain prudential capital management 
and risk management in order to provide certainty and 
stability in the availability and affordability of insurance.

At 30 June 2017, Lawcover’s net asset position was  
$117.13 million, up from $115.25 million at 30 June 2016. 
This was after the provision of $10.88 million for the  
2017 policyholder rebate.

PREMIUMS AND COST OF INSURANCE
The target premium pool charged to insured law practices 
has been maintained at the same level for three years, since 
July 2015. This is despite continued growth in the number 
of insured law practices and solicitors each year. For the 
vast majority of insured law practices, premiums on a like-
for-like basis have decreased markedly since 2013.

It has been a matter of considerable satisfaction for the 
entire Lawcover team that, while increasing the financial 
strength of the company over the past four years, it also 
has been possible to provide for three policyholder rebates 
of $23 million (2014), $15 million (2016) and $10.9 million 
(2017). Together with the reduced premium pool, this has 
resulted in a total of some $58.5 million released for the 
benefit of eligible insured law practices over the period.

NOTIFICATIONS (CLAIMS AND CIRCUMSTANCES) 
The number of claim and circumstance notifications to 
Lawcover has remained very stable to trending downwards 

over the past five years, with a total of 619 notifications in 
the year to 30 June 2013 compared with 631 in the year to 
30 June 2017. However, the significant underlying figure 
is that within the same timeframes, the number of claims 
reported has fallen from 276 to 239. 

During the intervening period, the number of solicitors 
insured by Lawcover has grown significantly. On an ultimate 
basis, the frequency of claims per 1,000 solicitors has fallen 
from 27 to approximately 19 over the past five years.

PERCENTAGE OF NOTIFICATIONS – AREA OF PRACTICE
The following table presents the percentages of 
notifications by area of practice for the 2016-17 year,  
with comparisons to previous years.

We continue to monitor emerging trends in claims 
and circumstances and, where appropriate, target areas 
of concern through risk analysis and targeted claims 
prevention strategies.

SOLICITORS’ MUTUAL INDEMNITY FUND
Lawcover Pty Ltd manages the Solicitors’ Mutual 
Indemnity Fund (SMIF) on behalf of The Law Society  
of New South Wales. There are no current claims 
liabilities against the SMIF and it ended the year  
with funds of $86.60 million.

SUMMARY
In closing this report, I wish to once again acknowledge 
the strong commitment of Lawcover’s Board and staff for 
their dedication and professionalism in working with and 
on behalf of the legal profession.

It is also important to acknowledge the ongoing support 
of the legal profession in respect of Lawcover and our 
objectives. With that support, we remain a strong 
organisation, operating from a secure financial position 
and maintaining a commitment to purpose.

MICHAEL HALLIDAY
Chief Executive Officer, Lawcover
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PERCENTAGE OF NOTIFICATIONS - AREA OF PRACTICE

Area of Practice
% of Total 

reported 
2016–17

% of Total 
reported 
2015–16

% of Total 
reported 
2014–15

General Commercial 11 9 9
Sale and Purchase of Business 2 3 2
Conveyancing 25 21 21
Leases 5 3 4
Mortgages and Commercial Borrowing 3 4 5
Tort and Workers Compensation 5 4 4
Out of Time Personal Injury 3 6 5
Out of Time – Other 2 2 2
Other Litigation 22 19 21
Matrimonial 7 10 9
Probate and Wills 9 10 10
Others* 6 9 8
Total 100 100 100

*Includes: criminal, immigration, defamation and revenue

NUMBER OF CLAIMS AND CIRCUMSTANCES NOTIFIED 
2016–17 2015–16 2014–15

Circumstances 392 378 359
Claims 239 192 238
Total 631 570 597



SECTION TITLE

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 |  17

As a result of this continued strong financial 
performance, a policyholder rebate will be paid to 
eligible insured law practices in September 2017. 

Previous policyholder rebates were made  
in 2014 and 2016 together with significant 
premium reductions over the same period. 

MICHAEL HALLIDAY
Chief Executive Officer,  

Lawcover
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NSW YOUNG LAWYERS
PRESIDENT’S REPORT

NSW Young Lawyers continued its focus on engagement 
with members, the profession, and the community, while 
improving access to justice. This has always been at the 
heart of what NSW Young Lawyers does, and what we 
continue to do, as a peak professional body and thought 
leader in the profession.

The organisation is structured around an Executive 
Council and more than 20 committees, working groups 
and subcommittees. Although most of the work of 
NSW Young Lawyers is carried out by volunteers, NSW 
Young Lawyers has the support of The Law Society of 
New South Wales in respect of its administrative and 
logistical requirements. Full time support staff includes 
Liesel von Molendorff, Head of NSW Young Lawyers 
and Graduates, Chloe Visser, NSW Young Lawyers Team 
Leader, Katherine Ducker, NSW Young Lawyers Events 
and Committee Coordinator, Paul Yacoub, Business 
Development Team Leader, and Jennifer Wen, Student 
Liaison Officer.

Each year, the membership of NSW Young Lawyers selects 
a Patron and Charity. The 2017 Patron is The Honourable 
Margaret Beazley AO, President of the NSW Court of 
Appeal, and the 2017 Charity is the Refugee Advice & 
Casework Service (RACS).

SERVICES FOR THE PROFESSION 
Mentoring Program
The NSW Young Lawyers Mentoring Program connects 
young lawyers with experienced practitioners. The annual 
program began in 2008, with 15 pairs of mentors and 
mentees, and has continued to grow, with 105 pairs 
connected in 2017. The program includes practitioners 
from 14 regions state-wide and covers all practice areas.

NSW Young Lawyers and the Law Society’s Graduate 
Services department also developed a new Graduate 
Mentoring Program in 2017, which matched final-year 
law students and first-year graduates with young lawyers. 

100 pairs were connected in the new program, providing 
support and guidance during the transition from student 
to professional. 

Day in the Life Series
NSW Young Lawyers has continued to develop the “Day 
in the Life” series, first created by the NSW Young Lawyers 
Criminal Law Committee. We expanded the series in 
2016, and it now includes criminal and civil jurisdictions. 
The series pairs a student with a practitioner, with the 
student accompanying that practitioner to court. 

Confidence in the Courtroom Program 
Confidence in the Courtroom is an award-winning 
program, designed to help young advocates learn their 
craft in a supportive and non-threatening atmosphere, 
with the guidance of judicial officers. Programs have 
already been established in the Family Court and Local 
Court civil and criminal jurisdictions. Advocates appear 
in real courts, before real judicial officers, and receive 
feedback on their advocacy skills. 

One-day programs
NSW Young Lawyers has continued to organise one-day 
Continuing Professional Development (CPD) programs.  
A number of committees organise one-day programs for 
their area of law, each with engaging speakers and topics.

Professional Skills Series
NSW Young Lawyers Family Law Committee continues to 
partner with his Honour Judge Harman and the Federal 
Circuit Court in Parramatta to host workshops for junior 
lawyers on topics such as Working with Culturally and 
Linguistically Diverse Clients, Preparing Cases and Clients 
for Hearings, and The Rules of Evidence. The NSW 
Young Lawyers Professional Skills Series was launched in 
February 2016 and won the 2016 Patron Award for Best 
Professional Project, presented by Emeritus Professor 
Gillian Triggs.

NSW Young Lawyers represents solicitors and barristers 
under the age of 36 or in their first five years of practice, 
as well as law students.
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Submissions
NSW Young Lawyers produce a large number of 
submissions on a diverse range of topics each year.

In 2017, NSW Young Lawyers submitted 13 submissions 
across nine areas of law, and three media releases. A full 
list of all of our submissions and media releases can be 
found on our website (younglawyers.com.au).

SERVICES FOR STUDENTS
NSW Young Lawyers has sought to actively involve itself in 
student initiatives. The Special Committee of Law Student 
Societies (SCLSS) was formed as an initiative of NSW 
Young Lawyers to bring together representatives of each 
NSW University Law Student Society. This Committee 
aims to engage NSW Young Lawyers with students, 
providing resources and events, as well as a platform for 
knowledge sharing between Universities.

Graduate Services Department
The Law Society of New South Wales is committed to 
providing students and graduates with the right resources 
and advice through every step of their career journey, no 
matter where it leads them. 

In 2015, a new department, Graduate Services, was 
launched to work closely with NSW Young Lawyers on 
all student-related initiatives. After implementing all the 
recommendations from the 2014 report, the Graduate 
Services team restructured to ensure we added value to the 
implemented projects and initiatives for law graduates.  

Law Graduate Study
The Law Society engaged research and consultancy 
company Urbis to design a tracking mechanism. The 
overall aim of the research is to track the employment 
experience of law graduates seeking employment.

The Law Graduate Study will bring empirical rigour 
to the debate about the number of law graduates and 

what happens to them post-graduation. The first study 
of its kind, it aims to dispel myths about law graduates’ 
employability and address recent media commentary about 
the perceived oversupply of law graduates. 

LegalVitae
LegalVitae is the first law jobs platform for students and 
graduates. It is designed to make the job search easier 
for students by bringing all opportunities together in 
one place. The platform has proven to be very popular 
with law students and employers from private practice, 
in-house, government and public interest, with over 100 
employers advertising on the site.

Sydney Law Careers Fair
The Sydney Law Careers Fair was held on 17 March 2017. 
This was the first time the event had been run in over 10 
years. The event was a great opportunity for students to 
explore all the opportunities available to them throughout 
their law degree. The Careers Fair targeted penultimate 
and final-year law students, particularly those interested in 
obtaining summer clerkship or graduate employment. The 
Careers Fair will continue to be hosted by the Law Society 
going forward. 

The Law Guide
The Law Guide, the first of its kind, created in partnership 
with GradAustralia, is a comprehensive publication that 
provides an insightful and informative overview of the 
different facets of the legal industry. The goal in creating 
this guide was to bring together all of the information a 
law student needs to make the successful transition  
from education to employment, and flourish as a  
young professional.

StudentHub
StudentHub is the ultimate resource hub for all law 
students and graduates throughout Australia. The 
Graduate Services Department also has an active social 
media presence on Facebook with over 2200 followers 

EMILY RYAN
President, NSW Young Lawyers

http://younglawyers.com.au/
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and counting. Facebook is updated daily with news, 
events, videos, job opportunities and other relevant 
announcements. The department also has an Instagram 
account to complement the Facebook page.

Student Relations
We continue to work with Law Deans from all NSW 
Universities. Monthly meetings also take place with the 
student presidents of the Special Committee for Law Student 
Societies (SCLSS), and university career faculty staff.

SERVICES FOR THE COMMUNITY
Fair Work Commission Pro Bono Scheme
The award-winning Fair Work Commission Pro Bono 
Scheme is coordinated by the NSW Young Lawyers 
Workplace and Safety Law Committee, and continues to 
provide a fortnightly roster of duty solicitors to the Fair 
Work Commission for unfair dismissal jurisdictional 
hearings heard in the Friday list. Solicitors are able to 
volunteer to be a duty solicitor one Friday per year, or 
more. Volunteers act on behalf of the Commission and 
assist unrepresented parties to understand what occurs at 
jurisdictional hearings and the issues the Commission  
will want to see addressed during the hearing. 

Refugee Assistance Project
In September 2016, the NSW Young Lawyers Human 
Rights Committee launched a new Refugee Assistance 
Project, run jointly with RACS. The Committee 
coordinates volunteers (lawyers and interpreters) to assist 
unrepresented people in Australia requesting asylum. 
The project was awarded the 2016 Patron Award for Best 
Community Project, presented by Emeritus Professor 
Gillian Triggs, and has assisted over 160 applicants in 

2017. Volunteers have provided support to date for clinics 
held at the Law Society, two larger blitz days and four mini 
blitz days hosted by RACS offsite, and further “call out” 
clinics to identify those who still require legal assistance. 
The program will continue to run in 2018. 

Young Justice Program
NSW Young Lawyers continued the community education 
program for school students in Years 5 to 8. The Young 
Justice Program was opened at the Supreme Court of New 
South Wales, with workshops following at the Law Society. 
More than 100 students will attend each program in 2017, 
with each session aiming to educate participants about 
social justice topics.

NETWORKING AND SKILLS DEVELOPMENT EVENTS
Golden Gavel Competition
The NSW Golden Gavel Competition was a resounding 
success in 2017, with 800 lawyers attending the event. The 
public speaking comedy breakfast event remains one of 
the flagship events of the legal profession. NSW Young 
Lawyers will host the National Golden Gavel Competition 
and Australian Young Lawyers’ Conference on 20 
October 2017. The National Golden Gavel Competition 
will feature Golden Gavel finalists from each state, while 
the conference will offer a series of engaging sessions 
structured around a variety of topics relevant to the 
continuing professional development of legal practitioners.

State of the Profession address
The State of the Profession address is an opportunity for 
members to hear from the current Patron of NSW Young 
Lawyers. This year The Honourable Justice Margaret 

NSW Young Lawyers Golden Gavel 2017
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Beazley AO will speak on the topic of “Law in the Age  
of the Algorithm”.

Young Professionals Charity Ball

Each year NSW Young Lawyers hosts the Young 
Professionals Charity Ball. The event is organised by 
NSW Young Lawyers, but we work in collaboration 
with other young professional bodies to raise money for 
the nominated NSW Young Lawyers’ charity for that 
particular year. It is one of our largest events and a must  
for all young professionals.

McCallum Medal Competition
The McCallum Medal is an annual public speaking event, 
in honour of Emeritus Professor Ron McCallum AO, and 
is a competition for young lawyers and students interested 
in employment law and industrial relations. 

NIDA Corporate Masterclass Series
NSW Young Lawyers collaborated with NIDA Corporate 
in 2017 to deliver four masterclasses in a series designed 
exclusively for young lawyers. This collaboration was a great 
initiative that offered members an opportunity to learn 
techniques to enhance their leadership style, present with 
confidence, and improve their professional communication 
style in a variety of contexts. To deliver the series, NIDA 
Corporate uses techniques drawn from NIDA’s world-
renowned performing arts teaching methodologies.

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION 
2017 Sydney Mardi Gras Parade
In 2017 NSW Young Lawyers participated in its first 
Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras Parade. Our members 
marched under the banner “Equality Under the Law”, 
celebrating law reform wins for the LGBTIQ community, 
and highlighting the need for future reform to ensure true 
equality under the law. NSW Young Lawyers members 
were joined by both the President of the Law Council of 
Australia and the President of the Law Society.NSW Young Lawyers at Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras 2017

NSW Young Lawyers Charity Ball 2016
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

This framework: 

• Defines the Society’s mission and the Council’s role

• Defines Councillor and office bearer roles, 
responsibilities and accountabilities

• Provides procedural guidelines in relation to Council 
committees, reporting obligations of representatives on 
outside bodies and control of the Council’s agenda

THE COUNCIL
The Council carries out its responsibilities in accordance 
with the following mandate included in the Society’s 
Memorandum and Articles of Association: 

• The Council shall consist of 21 elected or appointed 
Councillors together with ex officio members (any 
serving senior office bearer whose elected term  
has expired)

• The Chair of the Council shall be the President of the 
Law Society

• The Council may meet as it thinks fit (Council meets 
monthly, with special meetings convened as required)

Councillors in office at the date of this Annual Report and 
his or her attendance at monthly meetings in the 2016-
2017 financial year are as follows: 

• Pauline Jennifer Wright (President)  
(12 of 12)

• Douglas John Humphreys (Senior Vice-President)  
(10 of 12)

• Richard John Harvey (Treasurer)  
(11 of 12)

• Coralie Suzanne Kenny (Junior Vice-President)  
(10 of 12)

• Gary Stephen Ulman (Immediate Past-President)  
(12 of 12)

• Cassandra Denise Banks (10 of 12)

• Andries Gerrit Boog (12 of 12)

• Darryl Ian Browne (11 of 12)

• Elizabeth Maria Espinosa (10 of 12)

• Richard John Flitcroft (2 of 2)

• Jane Marianne Glowrey (11 of 12)

• Zora Kekeff (11 of 12)

• Annmarie Clare Lumsden (11 of 12)

• Hugh Ignatius Macken (8 of 8)

• Blanka Moss (8 of 12)

• Emily Bree Ryan (7 of 8)

• Terence Leland Stern (10 of 12)

• Pamela Gaibrielle Suttor (11 of 12)

• Jodie Maree Thurgood (12 of 12)

• Joanne Patricia van der Plaat (7 of 8)

• Juliana Rose Warner (9 of 12)

• Mark Stephen Warton (12 of 12)

Councillors who retired or resigned during the  
2016-2017 year and meetings attended were: 

• Justin Joseph Dowd (4 of 4)

• John Francis Eades (3 of 6)

• Nicholas John McBride (4 of 5)

• David Hugh Porter (4 of 4)

• Elias Sayed Yamine (4 of 4)

The primary responsibilities of the Council are to: 

• Set vision, objectives, policies and strategic directions

• Ensure compliance with statutory requirements

• Assess and manage risk

• Monitor organisational performance

The objective of The Law Society of New South Wales’ 
governance framework is an efficient Council that is forward-
thinking and outcome-driven in leading the profession, 
representing its members and addressing the public interest.
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AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
The Council’s Audit and Finance Committee is convened 
annually and comprises the Treasurer (Chair) and four 
other Councillors appointed by the President. Current 
members of this Committee are: Councillors R. Harvey 
(Chair), A. Boog, E. Espinosa, J. Thurgood and  
J. Warner. Meetings are held quarterly but more frequently 
if considered necessary. A special meeting is always 
convened, generally in late August, to discuss the annual 
financial statements.

The Audit and Finance Committee reviews the activities 
of the Law Society Group of Companies in key financial 
areas and ensures that appropriate internal control systems, 
audit processes and risk management strategies are in place. 
From a financial management and investments perspective, 
its primary responsibilities are to advise the Council on the 
budget and strategic plan; develop investment policies and 
guidelines; consider remuneration review pool allocation 
for staff salary increases; and to approve capital expenditure 
up to $100,000. 

The Committee also consults routinely with the Law 
Society’s external auditors, the Chief Executive Officer 
and the Chief Operating Officer. The Audit and Finance 
Committee process promotes accountability and provides 
Council with additional assurances regarding the quality 
and reliability of information used by the Council.

RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Council is responsible for corporate governance 
within the Law Society Group of Companies. The Council 
monitors the operational and financial aspects of the 
Group’s activities and, through the Audit and Finance 
Committee, considers the recommendations and advice 
of external auditors and other external advisers on the 
operational and financial risks that face the Group. 

The Council ensures that the recommendations made 
by the external auditors and other external advisers are 
investigated and, where considered necessary, appropriate 
action is taken to ensure that the companies in the Group 
have internal controls to manage the key risks identified. 
Both directly and through its Audit and Finance 
Committee, the Council investigates ways of enhancing 
existing risk management strategies. 

CODE OF CONDUCT 
As elected representatives of the solicitors of NSW, 
members of the Council acknowledge their  
responsibility to: 

• Put the interests of the Society’s members ahead  
of personal or sectional interests 

• Act with integrity

• Respect the confidentiality of Council business

• Adhere diligently to the Society’s mission and 
Council’s role 

• Avoid conflicts of interest

• Comply with the requirements of the protocols, 
policies and standards as prescribed in the Manual  
for Councillors 

• Respect the values inherent in the Council’s  
statement of ethics for solicitors 

• Meet statutory requirements 
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LAW SOCIETY COUNCILLORS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

PAULINE WRIGHT
PRESIDENT; Chair of Environmental 
Planning & Development and 
Public Law Committees; Member of 
Criminal Law, Diversity & Inclusion, 
Future of Law & Innovation in the 
Profession (FLIP) and Indigenous 
Issues Committees

DOUG HUMPHREYS OAM
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT; Chair of 
Government Solicitors and Licensing 
Committees; Deputy Chair of 
Disclosure Committee

CORALIE KENNY
JUNIOR VICE PRESIDENT; Chair of 
Business Law and Corporate Lawyers 
Committees; Deputy Chair of 
Licensing Committee; Member of 
Diversity & Inclusion and Office  
of State Revenue/Law Society  
Liaison Committees

RICHARD HARVEY
TREASURER; Chair of Audit & Finance 
and Property Law Committees; 
Member of Diversity & Inclusion, 
Fidelity Fund Management and 
Future of Law & Innovation in the 
Profession (FLIP) Committees and 
Specialist Accreditation Board

GARY ULMAN
IMMEDIATE PAST PRESIDENT; Chair of 
Future of Law & Innovation in the 
Profession (FLIP) and Professional 
Conduct Joint and Sub-Committees; 
Deputy Chair of Litigation Law & 
Practice Committee

CASSANDRA BANKS
Deputy Chair of Costs and Family 
Law Committees; Member of Rural 
Issues Committee

DARRYL BROWNE
Chair of Ethics Committee; Member 
of Criminal Law, Disclosure, Fidelity 
Fund Management and Property  
Law Committees

ANDREW BOOG
Chair of Office of State Revenue/Law 
Society Liaison Committee; Co-Chair 
of Rural Issues Committee; Member 
of Audit & Finance and Fidelity Fund 
Management Committees

ELIZABETH ESPINOSA
Deputy Chair of Corporate 
Lawyers, Diversity & Inclusion and 
Government Solicitors Committees; 
Member of Audit & Finance, Future 
of Law & Innovation in the Profession 
(FLIP) and Property Law Committees

RICHARD FLITCROFT
Member of Fidelity Fund 
Management, Professional Conduct 
and Public Law Committees
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ZORA KEKEFF
Chair of Disclosure, Alternative 
Dispute Resolution and Family  
Law Committees

TERRY STERN
Chair of Costs and Injury 
Compensation Committees;  
Member of Litigation Law &  
Practice Committee

PAM SUTTOR
Chair of Elder Law, Capacity & 
Succession Committee

HUGH MACKEN
Deputy Chair of Ethics and Injury 
Compensation Committees;  
Member of Costs and Employment 
Law Committees

ANNMARIE LUMSDEN
Chair of Children’s Legal Issues 
and Criminal Law Committees; 
Member of Diversity & Inclusion and 
Government Solicitors Committees

BLANKA MOSS
Member of Corporate Lawyers, 
Diversity & Inclusion and  
Ethics Committees

EMILY RYAN
Member of Environmental Planning 
& Development and Professional 
Conduct Committees

JULIANA WARNER
Chair of Diversity & Inclusion 
and Litigation Law & Practice 
Committees; Member of Audit & 
Finance Committee

JODIE THURGOOD
Co-Chair of Rural Issues Committee; 
Member of Audit & Finance, 
Future of Law & Innovation in the 
Profession (FLIP), Costs and Injury 
Compensation Committees

JOANNE VAN DER PLAAT
Co-Chair of Employment Law 
Committee; Member of Professional 
Conduct Committee

MARK WARTON
Member of Disclosure, Injury 
Compensation and Professional 
Conduct Committees

JANE GLOWREY
Chair of Fidelity Fund Management 
Committee and Professional Conduct 
Sub-Committee; Deputy Chair of 
Professional Conduct and Property 
Law Committees and Specialist 
Accreditation Board; Member of Ethics 
and Future of Law & Innovation in 
the Profession (FLIP) Committees
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MAJOR LAW REFORM SUBMISSIONS

ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION
• Nil

BUSINESS LAW
• Associations Incorporation Regulation 2016

• Consumer Law Enforcement and Administration – 
Issues Paper

• Insolvency Practice Rules 2016

• National Innovation and Science Agenda –  
Employee Share Schemes

• National Innovation and Science Agenda –  
Improving Corporate Insolvency Law

• Privacy Amendment (Re-Identification Offence)  
Bill 2016

• Productivity Commission Inquiry into Data 
Availability and Use

• Review of Tax and Corporate Whistleblower 
Protections in Australia

• Social Impact Investing Discussion Paper 

• Treasury Consultation – Beneficial Ownership  
of Companies

CHILDREN’S LEGAL ISSUES (FORMERLY JUVENILE 
JUSTICE TO DECEMBER 2016)
• Apprehended Domestic Violence Orders involving 

child defendants

• Children’s criminal records – spent convictions

• Juvenile Justice – consultation questions on  
behaviour management

• Consultation Report: What children and young  
people experiencing homelessness have to say 

• Department of Education procedures for  
interviewing students

• Segregation and confinement of children in  
juvenile justice centres 

• Statutory Review of the Child Protection (Working with 
Children) Act 2012 (NSW)

• Young Offenders Regulation Public Consultation

CORPORATE LAWYERS
• Proposed Amendments to Foreign Bribery Offences

CRIMINAL LAW
• Amendment of Local Court Practice Note Comm 1 

• Application of the Early Guilty Plea Blueprint to 
Matters in the Children’s Court

• Availability of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Mental Health Clinicians

• Client Legal Privilege 

• Consultation on legislative amendments to implement 
the National Domestic Violence Order Scheme

• Criminal Legislation Amendment (Organised Crime 
and Public Safety) Act 2016 – safeguards to protect 
vulnerable persons

• Domestic Violence Evidence in Chief Reforms

• Draft Crimes (Administration of Sentences) 
Amendment (Parole Applications) Regulation 2017 – 
manifest injustice

• Draft Crimes (Sentencing Procedure) Regulation 2017

• Draft Justice Legislation Amendment (Committals and 
Guilty Pleas) Bill 2017

• Draft Justice Legislation Amendment (Crime) Bill 2017

• Draft Report – Criminal Appeals Review

• Draft Review Report: Statutory review of the Crimes 
(High Risk Offenders) Act 2006 NSW

• Fine Default Imprisonment

• Funding for Criminal Justice Support Network 

• Implementation of the Appropriate Early Guilty Plea 
Reform proposals

• Inquiry into the ICAC Inspector’s Report to  
the Premier
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• Inquiry into Violence against Emergency  
Services Personnel 

• Law Enforcement (Powers and Responsibilities)  
Regulation 2016

• Mental Health (Forensic Provisions) Act 1990

• National Domestic Violence Order Scheme 

• Non-compliance with subpoenas by NSW Police

• Offender population report – statistics by  
correctional centre

• Proposal to amend the Evidence (Audio and Visual Links) 
Act 1998 to create a presumption for first appearance 
bail proceedings via AVL

• Review of Legal Aid NSW Criminal Law Appeal Policy

• Review of the Legal Aid NSW Specialist Barrister 
Panel (Complex Criminal Law)

• Rolling List Court proposal – Parramatta District Court

• Royal Commission into Institutional Responses 
to Child Sexual Abuse – Evidence (Tendency and 
Coincidence) Model Provision

• Statutory Review of ‘One-punch’ laws – sections 
25A and 25B of the Crimes Act 1900 – proposals for 
legislative amendment

• Statutory review of Subpoenas to produce

• Tattoo Parlours Amendment Act 2017

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION
• Breastfeeding facilities and parenting rooms 

ELDER LAW, CAPACITY & SUCCESSION (FORMERLY 
ELDER LAW & SUCCESSION TO DECEMBER 2016)
• Banking indemnity requirements on deceased estates

• NSW Trustee and Guardian Surety Bond Scheme 
(several submissions)

• Proposed amendments to the Powers of Attorney Act 
2003 (NSW)

• Remake of the Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration 
Regulation 2011 (NSW)

• Use of powers of attorney instruments by banks 

EMPLOYMENT LAW 
• Inquiry into Violence against Emergency Services 

Personnel – Supplementary Question

• Integration of the Industrial Court with the Supreme 
Court of NSW

• Statutory Review of the Work Health and Safety Act  
2011 (NSW)

ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
• Draft State Environmental Planning Policy (Coastal 

Management) 2016

• Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 
legislative updates: section 149 certificate reform

• Improving voluntary planning agreements

• Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) 
Amendment Bill 2016

• New Wind Energy Planning Framework

• Simplified Housing Code

FAMILY LAW (FORMERLY FAMILY ISSUES TO  
DECEMBER 2016)
• Civil Law and Justice Legislation Amendment Bill 2017  

• Domestic Violence Death Review  
Team recommendations

• Proposal to establish a high-level working group to 
address delays in family law proceedings in NSW

GOVERNMENT SOLICITORS
• Review of Tax and Corporate Whistle-blower 

Protections in Australia
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HUMAN RIGHTS 
• 2017 Independent Intelligence Review

• Australian Human Rights Commission Disability 
Discrimination – National Consultation Paper

• Crimes and Anti-Discrimination Legislation 
Amendment (Vilification) Bill 2016

• Inquiry into establishing a Modern Slavery Act  
in Australia 

• Inquiry into human trafficking

• Inquiry into the serious allegations of abuse, self-harm 
and neglect of asylum seekers in relation to the Nauru 
Regional Processing Centre and Manus Regional 
Processing Centre

• Offshore processing and the treatment of  
asylum seekers

• Practical Guide for the Australian Legal Profession  
on Business and Human Rights 

• Proposed Activities (Public Amenity and Security) 
Local Law 2017 (Vic)

INDIGENOUS ISSUES
• Aboriginal cultural awareness training for lawyers

• Australian National Standards for Working with 
Interpreters in Courts and Tribunals

• Funding for trauma services for children in out of 
home care

• Indigenous incarceration rates and justice targets

• Inquiry into access to transport for seniors and 
disadvantaged people in rural and regional NSW

• Inquiry into Driver Education, Training and  
Road Safety

• NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal (NCAT) 
consultative forum on tenancy, social housing and 
Aboriginal issues

• Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation 
Committee inquiry into the Native Title Amendment 
(Indigenous Land Use Agreements) Bill 2017

INJURY COMPENSATION 
• Changes to Green Slip Legislation

• Costs table – Draft options for regulated costs

• Compulsory Third Party insurance reform – Claims 
handling guidelines

• First review of the Compulsory Third Party  
insurance scheme

• First review of the Dust Diseases scheme

• First review of the Lifetime Care and Support scheme

• First review of the Workers Compensation Scheme

• National guidelines for automated vehicle trials – 
discussion paper

• NSW Compulsory Third Party insurance scheme 
reform (several submissions)

• Protocols for superannuation Total and Permanent 
Disability claims

• Regulation for legal costs for work capacity  
decision reviews

• Review of the Lifetime Care and Support Guidelines

LITIGATION LAW & PRACTICE
• Fixed Costs: Legal Profession Uniform Law Application 

Regulation 2015

• Hearing allocation fees and hearing fees –  
Civil Procedure Regulation 2012

• Liability for Court Fees in pro bono matters

• Online Registry and the Online Court

• Refund of hearing allocation fees and hearing fees – 
Civil Procedure Regulation 2012

• Revised Search Warrant Guidelines Between the Law 
Council of Australia and the Australian Federal Police 

MEDICO LEGAL LIAISON
• Coronial Users’ Group

• Use of Ante Mortem Interventions for  
Organ Donation

OFFICE OF STATE REVENUE/LAW SOCIETY LIAISON
• Draft Revenue Ruling – Definition of Foreign Person

• Draft Revenue Ruling – Definition of Residential Land

• Revenue Ruling LT097 – Land Used for  
Primary Production

• State Revenue Legislation Further Amendment  
Bill 2016

PRIVACY AND COMMUNICATIONS  
• Law Council Cyber Precedent Website 

PROPERTY LAW
• Draft Australian Standard for inspection of Buildings 

– Part 2: Common areas of group titled properties

• Draft Conveyancing (Sale of Land) Regulation 2017

• Draft Home Building Amendment (Compensation 
Reform) Bill 2017

• Draft Strata Living Guide
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• Draft Strata Renewal Information Sheet

• Entitlement to sign registry instruments in NSW

• Foreign Resident Capital Gains Withholding Tax

• Land and Property Information (Privatisation)

• Land and Property Information NSW (Authorised 
Transaction) Bill 2016

• Real Estate and Property Services Industry  
Reform Paper

• Retail Leases Amendment (Review) Bill 2016

• Uniform National Mortgage

PUBLIC LAW
• Inquiry into protections for people who make 

voluntary disclosures to the Independent Commission 
Against Corruption

• Select Committee on a National Integrity Commission

RURAL ISSUES
• Consultation – Register for Foreign Ownership of 

Water Entitlements 

• Courts in rural and regional areas

• Farm Debt Mediation Act 1994 (NSW) Review

• National Register of Foreign Ownership of Water 
Access Entitlements 

JOINT SUBMISSIONS MADE BY MORE  
THAN ONE COMMITTEE
• Abortion Law Reform Bill 2016

• Access by designated agencies to Children’s Court 
Clinic Reports

• Amendments to the Family Law Act 1975 to respond to 
family violence

• Australian Consumer Law Review – Interim Report

• Australian Law Reform Commission Elder Abuse 
Discussion Paper

• Child Protection Reforms Proposal Paper

• Civil penalties regime for non-consensual sharing  
of intimate images 

• Consultation draft terms of reference – Australian Law 
Reform Commission inquiry into the incarceration 
rate of Indigenous Australians

• Consultation of serious vilification laws in NSW

• Consultation on proposed reforms to strengthen 
building fire safety

• Crimes Legislation Amendment (Powers, Offences and 
Other Measures ) Bill 2017

• Criminal Code Amendment (High Risk Terrorist 
Offenders) Bill 2016

• Counter-Terrorism Legislation Amendment Bill  
(no. 1) 2016

• Courts and tribunal fees 

• Crown Lands Management Bill 2016

• Deferred Prosecution Agreement Scheme  
Consultation Paper

• Dispute resolution: Model provisions

• Distributed courtrooms

• Diversion of low level offences in NSW

• Draft Bill to amend s 6 of the Law Reform 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1946 (NSW)

• Draft Crimes Amendment (Intimate Images) Bill 2017

• Draft Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Amendment Bill 2017

• Draft Law Council Regional Processing  
Policy Statement

• Draft Purchaser/Transferee Declarations

• Environmental Planning and Assessment (ePlanning) 
Regulation 2017

• Fine default imprisonment

• Homelessness in NSW – Foundation for Changes

• Human Tissue Amendment (Trafficking in Human 
Organs) Bill 2016

• Inquiry into child protection

• Inquiry into Crown land

• Inquiry into freedom of speech in Australia

• Inquiry into the design, scope, cost-benefit analysis, 
contracts awarded and implementation associated with 
the Better Management of the Social Welfare System 
initiative

• Inquiry into the Legislative Council committee system

• Inquiry into the Sexualisation of Children and  
Young People

• Just Reinvest NSW draft policy paper –  
reducing Indigenous incarceration

• Justice for everyday problems: Civil Justice in NSW

• Koori Courts in NSW

• Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) 
Amendment Bill 2016

• Land management and biodiversity  
conservation reforms

• Law Enforcement Conduct Commission Bill 2016
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• Local Land Services Amendment Act 2016 and  
register of set aside areas

• National framework to improve accessibility to 
Australian courts for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander women and migrant and refugee women

• National Register of Foreign Ownership of Water 
Access Entitlements

• NSW Ombudsman’s review of the consorting law

• Outcomes of the 2017 First Nations National 
Constitutional Convention 

• Parliamentary inquiry into a better family law system 
to support and protect those affected by family violence

• Productivity Commission Inquiry into Data 
Availability and Use

• Relocation of Strata Mediations

• Retail Leases Amendment (Review) Bill 2016

• Review of ASIO questioning and detention powers

• Review of the Conveyancing (Sale of Land) Regulation 
2010 and the Conveyancing Process in NSW

• Review of the Guardianship Act 1987 – Question 
Paper 1: Preconditions for alternative decision-making 
arrangements

• Review of the Guardianship Act 1987 – Question Paper 
2: Decision-making models

• Review of the Guardianship Act 1987 – Question Paper 
3: The role of guardians and financial managers

• Review of the Guardianship Act 1987 – Question Paper 
4: Safeguards and procedures

• Review of the Guardianship Act 1987 – Question 
Paper 5: Medical and dental treatment and restrictive 
practices

• Review of the Guardianship Act 1987 – Question Paper 
6: Remaining issues

• Royal Commission into the Protection and Detention 
of Children in the Northern Territory

• Royal Commission into Institutional Responses  
to Child Sexual Abuse Consultation Paper on 
Criminal Justice

• Statutory review of the Coroners Act 2009

• Statutory review of the Victims Rights and Support  
Act 2013

• Statutory review of the Crimes (High Risk Offenders)  
Act 2006

• The distribution of intimate images without consent

• Voluntary Assisted Dying Bill 2016

SUBMISSIONS MADE BY THE POLICY AND PRACTICE 
DEPARTMENT (NO RELEVANT COMMITTEE)
• Compulsory Practice Management Course for  

new Principals

• Inquiry into consumer protection in the banking, 
insurance and financial sector

• Legal Profession Uniform Law: Review of the 
Australian Solicitors’ Conduct Rules

• Local Courts in rural and regional areas

• National Model Gender Equitable Briefing Policy

• National Model Gender Equitable Briefing Policy: 
Reporting Template and Guidelines

• Professional Regulation Committee

• Security arrangements at Local Court premises

JOINT SUBMISSIONS MADE WITH  
OTHER ORGANISATIONS
• Compulsory Third Party insurance reform (with the 

NSW Bar Association)

• Compulsory Third Party insurance reform (with 
the NSW Bar Association and Australian Lawyers 
Alliance)(multiple submissions).

• Draft Dispute Resolution Guidelines (with the 
Australian Lawyers Alliance)

• Draft Motor Accidents Compensation Regulation – 
Suggested Schedule 1 costs for legal services (with the 
Australian Lawyers Alliance)

• Urgent review of resourcing in the Family Court of 
Australia and Federal Circuit Court of Australia (with 
the NSW Bar Association)



SECTION TITLE

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 |  31

The Law Society Committees, supported by our 
Legal Policy team, have made more than 200 
submissions in the past financial year seeking 

positive reform to the justice system.

MICHAEL TIDBALL
Chief Executive Officer
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STRATEGIC PLAN
2016–2019

ADVOCACY 
Dynamic leadership in  

reform and the rule of law

The Law Society’s Strategic Plan is a set of practical  
objectives which are renewed every three years to accommodate 
the evolving challenges of the legal profession. 

Actions:
• Promote and protect the rule of law

• Preserve the integrity of the legal system

• Initiate and lead law reform and legal policy

• Engage and empower the legal profession in the 
development of the law

• Engage and inform the community on the law  
and legal issues

• Champion pro bono work

• Advocate for a well-resourced and accessible justice system

• Sponsor and initiate legal policy in Australian and 
international arenas

REGULATION
High professional  

standards and integrity

Actions:
• Provide regulatory leadership and oversight of  

the legal profession

• Ensure the fair and impartial provision of  
regulatory functions

• Be a timely, professional and knowledgeable resource  
to the profession in compliance

• Deliver visionary and practical leadership in shaping  
the regulatory framework

• Protect and uphold community and government 
confidence in regulation

• Uphold the highest professional and ethical standards  
to ensure community and government confidence

• Adopt a progressive stance to ensure best practice delivery
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SUSTAINABILITY
Responsible leadership  

and governance

Actions:
• Anticipate and adapt to future and developing trends 

confronting the legal profession

• Ensure growth of our net financial position to underpin 
support to members and represent the legal profession 
into the future

• Provide responsible management of resources to maximise 
the achievement of strategic objectives

• Maintain strategic alignment with related and relevant 
entities such as Lawcover, the Law Council of  
Australia, and LAWASIA

• Adapt and develop our services to embrace environmental, 
technological and social changes and trends

MEMBERSHIP
Service excellence  

and professional unity

Actions:
• Reaffirm the rule of law as a foundation for membership

• Understand and prioritise the diverse needs of  
the profession

• Develop and enhance legal communities across private, 
corporate, government and regional practice

• Adapt and evolve our services to changing member needs

• Recognise and respond to the profession’s  
wellbeing requirements

• Lead ongoing legal education and professional development

• Facilitate access to lifestyle and practice products and 
services to assist members

• Provide reliable and dependable practice support
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TREASURER’S REPORT

On behalf of the Council, I am pleased to present the Society’s 
annual financial reports for the year ended 30 June 2017. 

The Council remains committed to responsible management of the Society’s 
resources, and this is illustrated with another strong result that is consistent 
with our financial performance over the past several years.

The consolidated group, which includes Lawcover Insurance and the Solicitors’ 
Mutual Indemnity Fund, achieved a surplus after tax of $4.9 million, with total 
net assets increasing to $265.9 million at year end.

The Law Society of New South Wales parent entity reported a net surplus of 
$1.2 million, which included $0.8 million of interest and investment income. 
With net assets now exceeding $68 million, the Society remains well placed to 
continue representing and servicing the NSW legal profession well into  
the future.

Following yet another excellent year, the net asset position of Lawcover 
Insurance continues to improve, with the company now maintaining a capital 
level which is almost three times that required by APRA. It is from this 
position of financial strength that Lawcover Insurance has been able to provide 
ongoing stability in the cost of professional indemnity insurance for the private 
profession in NSW. Further to this, it is also a great result that the board of 
Lawcover Insurance has again been able to approve a significant premium 
rebate that will be remitted to policyholders over the coming months.

Additional information relating to the performance of the group can be 
found in the financial commentary section of the concise report. For members 
interested in a more detailed breakdown of the Law Society’s financial position, 
please refer to the full financial report which is available on request or on  
our website.
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RICHARD HARVEY
Treasurer

A breakdown by entity of the group’s surplus after tax is shown below:

Consolidated

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

The Law Society of New South Wales 1,243 1,969

Lawcover Insurance Pty Limited 1,878 2,716

Solicitors’ Mutual Indemnity Fund 1,823 6,803

Consolidated surplus after tax 4,944 11,488

A breakdown by entity of the group’s net assets is shown below:

Consolidated

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

The Law Society of New South Wales 68,183 66,940

Lawcover Insurance Pty Limited 117,132 115,254

Solicitors’ Mutual Indemnity Fund 86,604 84,781

Net assets before eliminations 271,919 266,975

Group elimination of Society’s investment 
in Lawcover Insurance

(6,000) (6,000)

Net assets after eliminations 265,919 260,975
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CONCISE FINANCIAL REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

The Law Society of New South Wales 
ACN 000 000 699

The concise financial report is an extract from the full financial 
report for the year ended 30 June 2017. The financial statements and 
specific disclosures included in the concise financial report have been 
derived from the full financial report.

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an 
understanding of the financial performance, financial position and 
financing and investing activities of The Law Society of New South 
Wales and its subsidiaries as the full financial report.

The full financial report and the auditor’s report will be sent to 
members on request, free of charge. Alternatively, members can 
access both the full financial report and the concise report via the 
internet on The Law Society of New South Wales’ website:  
www.lawsociety.com.au

http://www.lawsociety.com.au/


38 | 

SECTION TITLE

The Council present their report on the consolidated 
entity (hereafter referred to as the group) consisting of 
The Law Society of New South Wales (the company) and 
the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year 
ended 30 June 2017.

COUNCILLORS
The members of the Council in office during or since the 
end of the financial year were:

• Cassandra Denise Banks

• Andries Gerrit Boog

• Darryl Ian Browne

• Justin Joseph Dowd

• John Francis Eades

• Elizabeth Maria Espinosa 

• Richard John Flitcroft

• Jane Marianne Glowrey

• Richard John Harvey

• Douglas John Humphreys

• Zora Kekeff

• Coralie Suzanne Kenny

• Annmarie Clare Lumsden

• Hugh Ignatius Macken

• Nicholas John McBride

• Blanka Moss

• David Hugh Porter

• Emily Bree Ryan

• Terence Leland Stern

• Pamela Gaibrielle Suttor

• Jodie Maree Thurgood

• Gary Stephen Ulman

• Joanne Patricia van der Plaat

• Juliana Rose Warner

• Mark Stephen Warton

• Pauline Jennifer Wright

• Elias Sayed Yamine

All members of the Council are practising solicitors of the 
Supreme Court of New South Wales.  

During the year, the following Councillors were elected, 
re-elected or appointed to Council: Mr D. Browne (re-
elected 27.10.16); Ms E. Espinosa (re-elected 27.10.16); 
Mr R. Flitcroft (elected 20.4.17); Mr R. Harvey (re-elected 
27.10.16); Mr H. Macken (elected 27.10.16); Mr N. McBride 
(elected 27.10.16); Ms E. Ryan (appointed 27.10.16);  
Ms J. van der Plaat (elected 27.10.16).

During the year, the following Councillors retired or 
resigned from Council: Mr J. Dowd (retired 27.10.16); 
Mr J. Eades (retired 31.12.16); Mr N. McBride (resigned 
16.3.17); Mr D. Porter (retired 27.10.16); Mr E. Yamine 
(retired 27.10.16).

The company secretaries of The Law Society of New South 
Wales are Ms L. Hall and Mr K. Tickle.

COUNCIL MEETINGS
A table setting out the number of Council meetings  
held during the financial year and the number of  
meetings attended by each Councillor is included  
in the corporate governance statement which is in  
the published annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Law Society of New South Wales is the professional 
association for solicitors in NSW, and fulfils both a 
regulatory and representative function on behalf of the 
profession. The Law Society is also the parent company 
of the Lawcover group of companies, which provide 
professional indemnity insurance to legal firms. During 
the course of the year there was no significant change in 
the nature of these activities.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The result of group operations for the year was a surplus 
of $4.9 million (2016: $11.5 million). The company’s 
constitution prohibits the distribution of dividends  
to its members.

COUNCILLORS’ REPORT
30 June 2017
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CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 
During the financial year there was no significant change 
in the state of affairs of the group other than that referred 
to in the financial statements or notes thereto.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of 
the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
event or transaction of a material or unusual nature likely, 
in the opinion of the Councillors, to affect significantly 
the operations of the group, the results of those operations 
or the state of affairs of the group in future financial years.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
There are no likely developments in the operations of  
the group which would significantly affect the results  
of future operations.

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS
During the financial year, the company paid a premium 
in respect of a contract insuring the Councillors of the 
company (as named above) and all executive officers of the 
company against a liability incurred as such a Councillor 
or executive officer to the extent permitted by the 
Corporations Act 2001.

The company has not otherwise, during or since the end 
of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of 
the company against a liability incurred as such an officer 
or auditor.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as 
required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is set out on page 40.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The company is of a kind referred to in ASIC 
Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) 
Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities 
and Investments Commission, related to the “rounding 
off” of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts 
in the financial statements have been rounded off in 
accordance with that instrument to the nearest thousand 
dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of  
the Council.

On behalf of the Council

P Wright
Councillor

R Harvey
Councillor

Sydney, 14 September 2017
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As lead auditor for the audit of The Law Society of New South Wales for the year ended 30 June 2017, I 
declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of The Law Society of New South Wales and the entities it controlled during 
the period.

R Balding 
Partner 
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Sydney, 14 September 2017

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
One International Towers Sydney, Waterfront Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 2001 
T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

http://www.pwc.com.au/
tel:+61 2 8266 0000
tel:+61 2 8266 9999
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Consolidated

2017 2016

Note $’000 $’000

Revenue 3 90,143 99,495

Investment revenue 7,359 12,940

Other income 9,004 8,507

Employee benefits expense (25,822) (24,463)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (3,639) (2,758)

Law Council capitation fees (3,086) (2,878)

Outwards reinsurance premium expense (7,936) (19,363)

Claims expense (40,839) (39,703)

Consulting and professional fees expense (7,487) (7,376)

Other expenses (11,910) (11,764)

Profit before income tax 5,787 12,637

Income tax expense (843) (1,149)

Profit for the year 4,944 11,488

Profit is attributable to:

Members of The Law Society of New South Wales 4,944 11,488

4,944 11,488

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Profit for the year 4,944 11,488

Other comprehensive income

Gain on revaluation of land and buildings * - 10,824

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax - 10,824

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,944 22,312

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:

Members of The Law Society of New South Wales 4,944 22,312

4,944 22,312

*This item will not be classified to profit or loss unless sold.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2017

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated

2017 2016

Note $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 37,745 31,996

Trade and other receivables 4 13,260 21,013

Investments 5 200,187 198,577

Current tax assets 4,471 -

Other assets 1,867 865

Total current assets 257,530 252,451

Non-current assets

Receivables 4 14,687 24,006

Investments 5 202,847 199,565

Property, plant and equipment 38,580 39,312

Deferred tax assets 5,548 6,689

Intangible assets 2,395 4,697

Total non-current assets 264,057 274,269

Total assets 521,587 526,720

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 7,179 7,888

Current tax liabilities - 4,021

Provisions 6 68,663 76,057

Other liabilities 7 92,286 88,125

Total current liabilities 168,128 176,091

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 39 61

Provisions 6 87,501 89,593

Total non-current liabilities 87,540 89,654

Total liabilities 255,668 265,745

Net assets 265,919 260,975

Equity

Reserves 28,515 28,515

Retained earnings 237,404 232,460

Total equity 265,919 260,975

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 30 June 2017

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated

Reserves Retained 
earnings

Total equity

$’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2015 17,691 220,972 238,663

Profit after income tax - 11,488 11,488

Other comprehensive income 10,824 - 10,824

Total comprehensive income 10,824 11,488 22,312

Balance at 30 June 2016 28,515 232,460 260,975

Profit after income tax - 4,944 4,944

Other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive income - 4,944 4,944

Balance at 30 June 2017 28,515 237,404 265,919

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2017

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



SECTION TITLE

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 |  45

Consolidated

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 39,898 36,932

Payments to suppliers and employees (50,431) (46,652)

Premiums received 77,024 76,984

Premium rebate to policyholders (14,781) -

Outwards reinsurance premiums paid (7,941) (19,336)

Claims paid (45,470) (54,963)

Reinsurance and other recoveries received 14,270 24,285

Income taxes paid (8,216) (380)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 4,353 16,870

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for purchase of investments (140,214) (200,877)

Proceeds on sale of investments 140,387 187,416

Interest received 1,828 1,144

Payments for property, plant and equipment (456) (830)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 74 215

Payments for intangible assets (223) (440)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities 1,396 (13,372)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,749 3,498

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 31,996 28,498

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 37,745 31,996

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2017

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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INCOME STATEMENT
The Law Society of New South Wales group reported a 
surplus of $4.9 million for the year (2016: $11.5 million). 
Total revenue (including investment and other income) 
decreased by 11.9% to $106.5 million, while operating 
expenses decreased 7.0% to $100.7 million.

The movement in revenue was underpinned by the 
following factors:

• Premium revenue has increased by 8.2%, which is the 
result of the reported rebate approved by the board 
of Lawcover Insurance Pty Ltd (Lawcover Insurance) 
decreasing from $15 million during the 2015-16 year to 
$10.9 million for the year ended 30 June 2017.

• The number of solicitors holding a practising certificate 
increased by 4.7% during the reporting period which, 
when accompanied by a voluntary membership take-up 
generally in line with 2016 levels, combined to increase 
membership and practising certificate revenues.

• Reinsurance and other recoveries decreased by 126.6%, 
due to both a decrease in the recoveries distributed by 
the Solicitors’ Mutual Indemnity Fund from the HIH 
liquidator and the reinsurance recoveries received by 
Lawcover Insurance following the decision by that 
company’s board to discontinue its primary layer quota 
share reinsurance arrangements.

Several factors have contributed to the increase in overall 
expenses, with the major movements stemming from the 
following:

• Depreciation and amortisation increased by 31.9%, 
as the Society continued to amortise the ongoing 
investments made in the group’s core information and 
regulatory systems.

• Reinsurance premium expense decreased by 59.0%, 
due to the removal of Lawcover Insurance’s 20% 
primary layer quota share reinsurance arrangement 
effective from 1 July 2016.

BALANCE SHEET
The group’s financial position remains strong, with the 
total of cash and investment portfolios held by the Society, 
Lawcover Insurance and the Solicitors’ Mutual Indemnity 
Fund increasing by 2.5% during the financial year. 
Overall, net assets of the consolidated entity increased by 
1.9% from those reported 12 months earlier.

Lawcover Insurance further improved its capital 
position, with a capital adequacy multiple of 2.95 times 
APRA’s prudential capital requirement at 30 June 2017 
(unaudited).

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
As at 30 June 2017, the group held cash of $37.7 million. 
The ongoing recoveries received by the Solicitors’ 
Mutual Indemnity Fund in recent years, accompanied by 
favourable claims experience and investment performance 
with respect to Lawcover Insurance have combined to 
significantly enhance the group’s liquidity levels and 
overall balance sheet strength during this period.

The Council continues to closely monitor the investment 
strategies that both the Law Society and its subsidiaries 
undertake to ensure that appropriate returns are 
adequately balanced against any risks assumed.

FINANCIAL COMMENTARY
For the year ended 30 June 2017



SECTION TITLE

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 |  47

1. REPORTING ENTITY
The Law Society of New South Wales is a company limited 
by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its 
registered office and principal place of business is:

The Law Society of New South Wales 
170 Phillip Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

This concise financial report relates to the consolidated 
entity consisting of The Law Society of New South  
Wales and the entities it controlled at the end of, or 
during, the year ended 30 June 2017. The accounting 
policies adopted have been consistently applied to all  
years presented. The financial statements are presented  
in the Australian currency.

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
(i) New and amended standards adopted by the group
The group has applied the following standards and 
amendments for the first time for their annual reporting 
period commencing on 1 July 2016:

• AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation

• AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian 
Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle

• AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 101

The adoption of these standards did not have any impact 
on the current period or any prior period and are not 
likely to affect future periods.

(ii) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The group has not elected to apply any pronouncements 
before their operative date in the annual reporting period 
beginning 1 July 2016, including:

• AASB 9 Financial Instruments (effective 1 January 
2018)

• AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
(effective 1 January 2018)

• AASB 16 Leases (effective 1 January 2019)

• AASB 2016-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 
Unrealised Losses (AASB 112) (effective 1 January 
2017)

• AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 107 (effective 1 January 2017)

• AASB 2016-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Applying AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
with AASB 4 Insurance Contracts (effective 1 January 
2018)

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective 1 January 2021)

The group will apply the standards and amendments on 
their operative date, where applicable, however they are 
not expected to have any material impact.  

An initial assessment has been performed for AASB 2016-
1 Amendments to AASB 112 – Income tax and AASB 
2016-2 Amendments to AASB 107 – Statement of Cash 
Flows with no material impact expected for the current 
or future reporting periods. A detailed assessment of the 
financial impact of the other proposed amendments to the 
accounting standards has not yet been performed but will 
be undertaken prior to implementation.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2017
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3. REVENUE
An analysis of the group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

Consolidated

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Membership and practising certificate fees 21,926 20,532

Premium revenue * 64,144 59,266

Reinsurance and other recoveries (3,348) 12,568

Legal training revenue 1,248 1,289

Member services revenue 2,359 2,338

Other revenue 3,814 3,502

90,143 99,495

*Premium revenue is the net total of gross premiums received less policyholder rebates of 
$10.9 million (2016: $15.0 million).

4. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Current

Trade receivables 117 179

Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 12,223 20,521

Other receivables 920 313

13,260 21,013

Non-current

Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 14,687 24,006

14,687 24,006

5. INVESTMENTS
Current

Deposits 94,123 86,883

Negotiable certificates of deposit 30,890 12,948

Corporate & government securities 25,208 79,482

Managed funds 49,966 19,264

200,187 198,577

Non-current

Corporate & government securities 202,847 199,565

202,847 199,565

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2017
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6. PROVISIONS
Consolidated

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Current

Outstanding claims liabilities 54,595 57,474

Policyholder rebate 10,880 15,000

Lease incentive liability 251 199

Employee benefits provision 2,937 3,384

68,663 76,057

Non-current

Outstanding claims liabilities 86,317 88,180

Lease incentive liability 344 626

Employee benefits provision 840 787

87,501 89,593

7. OTHER LIABILITIES
Current

Deferred revenue

Membership and practising certificate fees 21,377 20,045

Premiums received in advance 69,651 67,110

Claims handling revenue 121 130

Other 1,137 840

92,286 88,125

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2017
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8. SUBSIDIARIES
Name of entity Country of 

incorporation
%  

Equity interest
Investment  

$

2017 2016 2017 2016

Lawcover Pty Ltd (i) Australia 100 100 2 2

Lawcover Insurance Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 6,000,000 6,000,000

Solicitors’ Mutual Indemnity Fund (iii) Australia 100 100 - -

6,000,002 6,000,002

(i)  Lawcover Pty Ltd. Incorporated in New South Wales on 19 June 1987. Contributed equity of 2 ordinary shares 
fully paid.

(ii)  Lawcover Insurance Pty Ltd. Incorporated in New South Wales on 17 January 2001 and commenced operations in 
April 2004. Contributed equity of 6,000,000 ordinary shares fully paid. The company was established to underwrite 
compulsory professional indemnity insurance for solicitors.

(iii) Solicitors’ Mutual Indemnity Fund. The Solicitors’ Mutual Indemnity Fund is maintained under Division 3 of 
Part 8 of the Legal Profession Uniform Law Application Act 2014. The Law Society of New South Wales has no 
investment in the Fund and all assets of the Fund can only be used for the purposes of Division 3 of Part 8 of the 
Legal Profession Uniform Law Application Act 2014.

9. MEMBERS GUARANTEE
The Law Society of New South Wales is a company limited by guarantee. In the event that The Law Society of New 
South Wales is wound up, the liability of members towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the consolidated 
entity is limited to $2 per member.

10. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, event or 
transaction of a material or unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Councillors, to affect significantly the operations 
of the group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the group in future financial years.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2017
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The Councillors declare that in their opinion, the concise 
financial report of the consolidated entity for the year 
ended 30 June 2017 as set out on pages 41 to 50 complies 
with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial 
Reports.

The concise financial report is an extract from the full 
financial report for the year ended 30 June 2017. The 
financial statements and specific disclosures included in 
the concise financial report have been derived from the 
full financial report.

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide 
as full an understanding of the financial performance, 
financial position and financing and investing activities of 
the consolidated entity as the full financial report, which 
is available on request.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution 
of the Council.

On behalf of the Council

P Wright
Councillor

R Harvey
Councillor

Sydney, 14 September 2017

COUNCILLORS’ DECLARATION
30 June 2017
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Opinion

We have audited the concise financial report of The Law Society of New South Wales and its controlled 
entities (the consolidated entity) which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2017, income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended and related notes, derived from the financial report of the consolidated entity for the year 
ended 30 June 2017, and the discussion and analysis.

In our opinion, the accompanying concise financial report, including the discussion and analysis, of the 
consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2017 complies with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 
1039 Concise Financial Reports.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our report. We are independent 
of the controlled entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the concise financial 
report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
One International Towers Sydney, Waterfront Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 2001 
T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE CONCISE  
FINANCIAL REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
THE LAW SOCIETY OF NEW SOUTH WALES

http://www.pwc.com.au/
tel:+61 2 8266 0000
tel:+61 2 8266 9999
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Concise financial report

The concise financial report does not contain all the disclosures required by the Australian Accounting 
Standards in the preparation of the financial report. Reading the concise financial report and the auditor’s 
report thereon, therefore, is not a substitute for reading the financial report and the auditor’s report thereon.

The financial report and our report thereon

We expressed an unmodified audit opinion on the financial report in our report dated 14 September 2017.

Responsibilities of the Councillors for the concise financial report

The councillors are responsible for the preparation of the concise financial report in accordance with 
Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports, and the Corporations Act 2001, and for such 
internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the concise financial 
report.

Independence

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the concise financial report, in all material respects, 
complied with AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports and whether the discussion and analysis complied 
with AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports based on our procedures which were conducted in accordance 
with Auditing Standard ASA 810 Engagements to Report on Summary Financial Statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

R BaldingPartner        

Partner

14 September 2017
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